IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HOWARD S. AULT,                    )  
                                          )  
          Appellant,                )  
                                          )  
vs.                                    )            CASE NO.   SC00-863  
                                          )  
STATE OF FLORIDA,                )  
                                          )  
          Appellee.                 )            )  
                                          )  
\_\_\_\_\_ )

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CAREY HAUGHWOUT  
Public Defender

RICHARD B. GREENE  
Assistant Public Defender  
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida  
Florida Bar No. 265446

**PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

Appellant was the defendant and appellee the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Judicial Circuit, In and For County, Florida. The volume number will be referred to by Roman numeral and the page number by Arabic numeral.

The symbol "R" will denote the Record on Appeal.

The symbol "T" will denote the Trial Transcript.

The symbol "SR" will denote the Supplemental Record.

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Mr. Ault was indicted for two counts of first degree murder, two counts of capital sexual battery, two counts of kidnapping, and two counts of aggravated child abuse. IR1-1b. This involved an incident on November 4, 1996. He was found guilty as charged on all counts, after a jury trial. XIT2025-30. The jury recommended death as to both murder counts by a vote of 9 to 3, after a penalty phase. XVIT2928-9. The trial judge imposed the death penalty on both murder counts, life sentences on the sexual battery counts, and sentences of a term of years on the other counts. VR901-954.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case involves the killing of two young girls. The defense in the case was that the homicide was second degree murder. The State's case consisted of lay testimony, law enforcement testimony, and the statement of Mr. Ault. Winifred Walters, a teacher at the school of the deceased; Deanne Mumin and Alicia Jones, testified that Deanne was a patrol officer. VIIIT1506. She saw both Deanne and Alicia after the Halloween party. VIIIT1510. Alicia was crying and said that someone stole her candy. VIIIT1510. Ms. Walters said that she would bring her some candy the following Monday. VIIIT1511. (This discussion was on a Friday). The girls leave school at 2:05 p.m. each day. VIIIT1511. She saw them on Monday, November 4, 1996 after school and gave them candy and they left. VIIIT1511-2.

Mildred Manning, general manager of Evening Delight Fireplaces, stated that on November 4, 1996 she worked from 8:30 a.m. to 6 p.m. VIIIT1514-5. He saw the deceased walk in front of her building as they usually did. VIIIT1516. She did not know the time, but guessed it was between 2 and 3 p.m. VIIIT1517.

James Marrazzo, stated that he frequented a convenience store on Powerline Road and 38<sup>th</sup> Street. VIIIT1519. He went there on November 4, 1996 with his wife. VIIIT1520. He stated that Mr. Ault was there about 1:45 p.m. VIIIT1521-1525. He did

not see the girls on the day in question, but had seen them on a previous day. VIIIT1524.

Larry Jackson, an employee of the Broward County Parks and Recreation Department, stated that on October 30, 1996, he was going to a meeting and saw two young Black girls talking to Mr. Ault. VIIIT1527-31. He then saw Mr. Ault buy the girls sodas and snacks at a convenience store. VIIIT1529. He later saw the girls at Easterlin Park. VIIIT1529.

Delois Skeete, stated that in October, 1996, she was working as a park aide at John Easterlin park. VIIIT1544-5. She worked from 7 a.m. to 3 p.m. VIIIT1546. She met Donna Jones in April, 1992, when she first went to work at Easterlin Park in April, 1992. VIIIT1547. She became friends with her and her three children. VIIIT1547. They camped at the park off and on. VIIIT1551. Mr. Ault would come to the park. VIIIT1552. She saw the girls riding with Mr. Ault on Friday, October 30, 1996. VIIIT1554. Deann stated that Mr. Ault had bought the girls food and fixed their mother's car. VIIIT1554. She did not work on November 5, 1996. VIIIT1558. Her daughter called her about 7:20 p.m. and told her that the girls were missing.

Sherry Karan testified that she camped at Easterlin Park from January, 1995 to January, 1996. VIIIT1560. She met Donna Jones at that time. VIIIT1560. Their kids were friends. VIIIT1561. Ms. Jones was in and out of the park. VIIIT1561.

Donna Mae Jones, mother of the deceased, testified that Deann was 11 and Alicia was 7. VIIIIT1566. She stayed with her kids in her white station wagon with a pop-up trailer. VIIIIT1567. Her children went to Lloyd Estates Elementary School. VIIIIT1568. They usually walked home. VIIIIT1569. She met Mr. Ault in Easterlin Park. VIIIIT1569-70. He offered to let them shower at his house and told her his wife's name. VIIIIT1570. The second time she saw him he was with his wife. VIIIIT1571. He gave her a map to his house. VIIIIT1571. Mr. Ault drove a small truck with tinted windows. VIIIIT1572. She saw Alicia and Deann riding in that truck once. VIIIIT1572-3. She scolded them for getting in the truck. VIIIIT1573. She stayed in the park on Thursday, October 31, 1996. VIIIIT1574. Mr. Ault had fixed her car that day. VIIIIT1574. On Monday, November 4, 1996, she took the girls to school and they didn't come home on time. VIIIIT1578. She went back to the school and called the police. VIIIIT1578. Officers came to the school. VIIIIT1579. She eventually went to Mr. Ault's house about 7 p.m. VIIIIT1580. Mr. Ault said he hadn't seen the girls. VIIIIT1580. He said not to call the police as he had some problems with them in the past. VIIIIT1581. She went to her cousin's house and then to the police station. VIIIIT1581-2. Joy Hall, testified that she first met Mr. Ault in September, 1996, when he rented an apartment from her. VIIIIT1590. His wife moved in a few weeks later. VIIIIT1592.

The first law enforcement witness was William Rhodes, a former officer of the Oakland Park Police Department. VIIIT1594. He was assigned as lead officer on November 5, 1996. VIIIT1595. He interviewed Mr. Ault and his wife in the detective division of Oakland Park Police Department on November 5, 1996, at approximately noon. VIIIT1596-7. Mr. Ault stated that he had only met the girls once, a few days before, in Easterlin Park. IXT1604-5. He stated that the girls had never been in his car. IXT1610. He went to see Mr. Ault on November 6, 1996, at the Broward County Jail. IXT1610. He was brought down at 2:15 p.m. IXT1616. Mr. Ault stated that he would only talk to Mr. Rhodes, so the other officer left. IXT1617. He was given his Miranda rights and agreed to waive them. IXT1620-1. Mr. Ault told him that the girls were dead and offered to take them to the bodies. IXT1621. Mr. Rhodes then instructed the other officer to obtain a court order to transport Mr. Ault. IXT1622. He admitted that he had killed the girls and that he had planned on having sex with them from the start. IXT1623. Mr. Ault took them to his apartment and consented to a search of the apartment. IXT1624. The girls were dead in the attic. IXT1629. Mr. Ault made a videotaped statement. He met Donna Jones and her three kids on Monday, October 28, 1996 in Easterlin Park. IXT1683-4. He gave them his name and address and offered to let them come and cook. IXT1685. He introduced his wife to her. IXT1685. He saw the

girls 2-3 days later and gave them a ride in his truck. IXT1686. He also helped Ms. Jones work on her car one day. IXT1687. He first thought of having sex with the children when he gave them a ride in the car. IXT1688-9. On Monday, November 4, 1996 he left his apartment about 2:15 and picked the children up at about 2:30 p.m. IXT1690. He told them that he was going to give them Halloween candy at his apartment. IXT1691. The kids came in with him. IXT1692. He began to have sex with the oldest child on the floor and she started to scream and fight. IXT1692. He penetrated her with his finger and briefly with his penis. IXT1693. He began to choke her to stop the noise. IXT1694. He claimed that he continued to strangle her until she stopped breathing. IXT1695. He then went over and strangled the other one on the couch. IXT1695. He did not have an original intent to kill either girl. IXT1696. He never attempted to sexually assault the younger girl. IXT1696. He put the older girl's clothes back on and then put them both in the attic. IXT1698. He then left and picked his wife up from work. IXT1699. Donna Jones came to his house about 9 p.m. IXT1699. Some police officers spoke to him later that night. IXT1700.

Mr. Ault stated that after he was raped by his older brother, he began having sexually devious thoughts. IXT1704. His brother began abusing him when he was 5 and it went on for several years. IXT1704. He never thought about killing anyone

until the older girl was screaming in this incident. IXT1705. He was on community control. IXT1713. Mr. Ault said he had been seeing a psychologist and had been in group therapy for over a year for his sex problems. IXT1716. He still has visions of having sex with minors. IXT1717.

Officer Rhodes was told after the fact that Officer Deborah Cox, of the Broward County Sheriff's Office, arrested Mr. Ault for a different offense, which had occurred 11 months earlier, after his first interview. IXT1730. Officer Rhodes claims that he had no advance knowledge of the arrest. IXT1743. Deborah Cox is married to Bill Cox, an officer with the Oakland Park Police Department. IXT1730. Officer Bill Cox did the video setup for Officer Rhodes for his interview with Mr. Ault. IXT1731. He was placed in the Broward County Jail that afternoon. IXT1732. Mr. Ault had originally agreed to take a polygraph and changed his mind. IXT1733. He said he would run the questions by an attorney before he would take it. IXT1734. The following day he called down for Mr. Ault at 1:50 p.m. and the videotaped statement began at 5:37 p.m. IXT1735. Mr. Ault showed emotion and remorse at the end of the tape. IX1744. Mr. Ault had been in a sex offender treatment program for two years. IXT1745. He tried to get help for his problem without success. IXT1746. Mr. Ault first thought about killing anyone when the girl was screaming and yelling. IXT1748.

Dr. Lance Davis, the medical examiner, testified that he was called to the scene on November 7, 1996. IXT1752. He saw the bodies of two children in the attic. IXT1753-4. He determined that Deann Mumin died by manual strangulation. IXT1776. There was also some bruising of the vaginal area. IXT1755. The amount of decomposition was consistent with her having been dead for two days. IXT1780. He also believes that Alicia Jones died from manual strangulation. IXT1787. He believes that she died 12-18 hours later. IXT1787. However, she was probably comatose for a long period of time. IXT1788. She had no signs of trauma to her vaginal area. IXT1787. The prosecution then rested. IXT1789.

The defense asked the court to take judicial notice of the fact that Mr. Ault had invoked his right to remain silent and right to counsel and that the first appearance judge had issued an order that these rights be honored. XT1855-6. The defense then rested. IX1856. The jury found Mr. Ault guilty as charged on all counts. XIT2026-30.

The State's first penalty phase witness was Byron Mattai, a Fort Lauderdale police officer. XIIT2118. He stated that on September 30, 1986, he was off duty and went walking on Ft. Lauderdale beach at 1:30 a.m., with his date. IXT2118. Two male figures began walking toward him. IXT2119. One man, Mr. Ault, pulled out a knife and began to attack him. IXT2120. He

sustained minor cuts. IXT2123. Mr. Mattai pulled out his badge and said he had a gun and they left. XIIT2120.

Michelle LeMay testified concerning an incident on May 15, 1988. XIIT2125. She was 12 and living in an apartment complex. XIIT2126. Charlie Ault, Howard Ault's brother, was the boyfriend of their former housemate. XIIT2126-7. She had met Howard Ault. XIIT2127. On May 15, 1998, she went to bed about 10 or 11 p.m. XIIT2127. Charlie and Howard had come by earlier to get her mom's medication to take to her at work. XIIT2128. She woke up at 4-5 a.m. with Howard Ault on top of her. XIIT2128. He took off her panties. XIIT2129. She was screaming and he hit her. XIIT2129. He left when he heard a car door slam. XIIT2130.

Officer George Rylander, of the Sunrise Police Department, testified concerning an incident on March 14, 1994. XIIT2135-6. The victim was 6 years old and lived with her mother in Markham Park in Sunrise. XIIT2139-40. Mr. Ault was a neighbor. XIIT2139. He picked her up at the store one day and drove her to an isolated area of the park. XIIT2140. He removed her clothes and inserted his fingers in her. XIIT2140. She cried and he took her back home. XIIT2140.

Alvertis Johnson, Mr. Ault's community control officer, testified that he supervised Mr. Ault from April-May, 1996 until November, 1996. XIIT2146. Mr. Ault was always at home when he

checked on him. XIIT2150. He was very compliant with community control. XIIT2154. He got reports from Dr. Rambo, Mr. Ault's psychiatrist. XIIT2154. He went to Mr. Ault's house at 8:45 p.m. on November 4, 1996. XIIT2157.

Timothy Allen, an inmate at the Broward County Jail, testified that at one time he was housed near Mr. Ault. XIIT2169-71. Ault claimed he strangled one of the girls and released for the feeling of power. XIIT2172-3. Allen was in jail for a violation of community control for armed burglary, which is punishable by life. XIIT2175. He was once in a gang. XIIT2177. He said that Mr. Ault was prescribed antipsychotic medication in the jail. XIIT2178.

Winifred Walters testified that she was Deanne's teacher and that Deanne was compassionate and artistic. XIIT2184. Delois Skeete, a park aide, testified that the girls would help her with park chores. XIIT2231-34. Sherry Karan testified that the girls were good children. XIIT2235-6. The State rested. XIIT2239.

The first defense witness was Barbara Matson, Mr. Ault's mother. XIIT2240. She is a retired secretary. XIIT2241. She married Ron Ault, Howard's father, in 1958. XIIT2241. He worked construction and they moved all the time. XIIT2241-2. They had four kids. XIIT2242. Charles was born in 1960, Lisa in 1964, Sherry in 1965, and Steve in 1966. XIIT2242-3. They moved 20-25

times when the kids were young. XIIT2243. She and her husband had a very chaotic relationship. XIIT2243. He had a very short fuse and was violent at times. XIIT2243-4. They had a lack of communication and often argued. XIIT2244. She was an alcoholic and this exacerbated their problems. XIIT2244. She was drinking heavily and was in denial and the children suffered. XIIT2244. She was depressed and unhappy and drank to drown her sorrows and get away from things. XIIT2245. She was drinking heavily when she was pregnant with Steve, especially in the first trimester. XIIT2245. She drank bourbon and coke or rum and coke. XIIT2245. Her family did not get the nurturing that they needed. XIIT2246. She and her husband separated twice before they divorced. XIIT2246.

Her drinking increased during the separations and she became more depressed. XIIT2246. They often moved to try to start over, but it never helped. XIIT2246. Alcoholism affected her parenting skills. XIIT2247. She was not there for her children, did not take care of them, did not help them with their homework, and did not give them attention when they needed it. XIIT2247. Her husband's answer to everything was to grab a belt and whip the children, especially the boys. XIIT2247. She was often drinking during these whippings. XIIT2248. She left her husband in charge. XIIT2248. They had no support group, no friends, no family, no religious background, and often moved.

XIIT2248. She felt alone and lost and hid her problems.  
XIIT2248. She blocked out a lot and drank a lot as defense mechanisms. XIIT2249. She continued to drink after she knew she was pregnant with Steve. XIIT2249.

Steve was born in Fort Myers and moved to Texas soon thereafter. XIIT2251. He continued sucking his thumb until he was 10 and wetting the bed until he was 13. XIIT2252. Both were issues of contention in the family. XIIT2252. He also suffered several head injuries as a child. XIIT2252-4. He jumped from a roof when he was 7 and hit his head and was unconscious for several minutes. XIIT2252-3. He was not taken to the hospital as his family did not have health insurance. XIIT2252-3. He fell again on the ice and hit his head when he was 12. XIIT2253. He was nauseous, but received no medical attention. XIIT2253. He was also involved in two automobile accidents. XIIT2253.

Chuck was 6 years older than Steve. XIIT2255. Chuck was an only child for 4 years before the second child was born. XIIT2255. He was very jealous of the other children and was very aggressive with them. XIIT2255. Chuck was sent away to a boy's ranch when he was 13, because there was a lot of chaos in the family and fighting and sibling rivalry. XIIT2257. There was also sexual abuse going on. XIIT2257. When Chuck came back the sexual abuse started again. XIIT2257. Chuck dropped out of high school and was dishonorably discharged from the military.

XIIIT2258. Chuck later married and sexually abused his stepson.  
XIIIT2258. Chuck sexually abused his two sisters. XIIIT2263-4.  
The two girls stuck together and eventually ended it. XIIIT2264.

Chuck was 11 when he began sexually abusing Steve, who was 5 at the time. XIIIT2266. She had the feeling that something was drastically wrong in the lives of the boys. XIIIT2266. She talked to her husband and asked him to talk to the boys. XIIIT2266. He talked to them and then told her that there was sexual activity between the two boys. XIIIT2266. He said he would "take care of it." XIIIT2266. She never felt like it was being properly addressed. XIIIT2266. Steve was almost shot by Chuck when he was 6. XIIIT2267. Chuck was disciplined by being whipped with a belt over the sexual abuse and the near shooting. XIIIT2267-8. He was never given counseling. XIIIT2268. Ms. Matson still feels ashamed about what went on in her house, especially the sexual abuse. XIIIT2270.

Ms. Matson was drinking heavily and she and her husband were separated when Steve was 10. XIIIT2270. Steve was the only child living with her. XIIIT2270. She came home one day and saw the sheets crumpled up and a jar of Vaseline on the table. XIIIT2270. She had a bad feeling about what was happening and called her husband. XIIIT2270. Chuck got a whipping over this. XIIIT2271. The next day he came over and tore up the storeroom because he was mad that she told on him. XIIIT2271. Steve was

sexually abused by Chuck from ages 5 to 12. XIIIIT2271-2. She believes that it contributed to the bed wetting. XIIIIT2272.

Steve got very limited counseling on a couple of occasions. XIIT2272. He attended a special school and was being socially promoted. XIIIIT2273. He had no interest in learning, sports, or any outside interest. XIIIIT2275. He was never tested for learning disorders or other neurological problems. XIIIIT2276. He did not know how to interact with other children. XIIIIT2276. He was often whipped with a belt. XIIIIT2277. That was the primary form of discipline. XIIIIT2277. They locked Steve in his room. XIIIIT2278. She got divorced in 1983 and Steve went to live with his dad. XIIIIT2278. She continued drinking heavily. XIIIIT2278-9.

Steve began to run away when he was 13 and they tried counseling. XIIIIT2285. She first became aware that Chuck was raping Steve when Steve was 8. XIIIIT2286. Both Steve and Chuck attempted to fondle their sisters. XIIIIT2287. Both her husband, Ron Ault, and Steve had told her that Chuck had sexually abused Steve. XIIIIT2288. She was in denial and thought it "was all a bad dream". XIIIIT2290. She didn't understand the impact of it all until years later. XIIIIT2290. She left it to her husband to handle the sexual abuse and it went on. XIIIIT2290. She stated that she failed her son. XIIIIT2290. They never had the money to take Steve for appropriate counseling. XIIIIT2292. They only

went to family counseling two or three times. XIIIT2296. Her heavy drinking contributed to her denial. XIIIT2295. She stated that Steve has expressed great remorse for this offense. XIIIT2297.

The defense then called Dr. Hyman Eisenstein, an expert in clinical neuropsychology. XIIIT2316-20. He has a Ph.D in clinical psychology and was a post-doctoral fellow in neuropsychology at Yale Medical School. XIIIT2316. He is board certified in neuropsychology. XIIIT2317. He had worked for 5 years with criminal forensic patients at the State Psychiatric Hospital in Connecticut. XIIIT2317. He also helped establish the head trauma program at the Sunrise Rehabilitation Hospital. XIIIT2318. Neuropsychology involves human behavior and the functioning of the human brain. XIIIT2318.

He interviewed Mr. Ault and reviewed records of other doctors, his statements, and police reports. XIIIT2322. Mr. Ault had severe learning disabilities and basically received failing grades XIIIT2322-3. He was socially promoted. XIIIT2323. His mother drank heavily during the first trimester. XIIIT2323. She tapered drinking somewhat in the second and third trimester. XIIIT2324. He suspects Fetal Alcohol Syndrome given the amount of alcohol consumption. XIIIT2324. Steve fell off a porch at age 5 and lost consciousness for 3-5 minutes. XIIIT2324. He continued thumb sucking until age 10 and bed

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