SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-863

#### HOWARD S. AULT,

Appellant,

- versus -

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MELANIE ANN DALE Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0168556 1515 N. Flagler Drive Suite 900 West Palm Beach, Fl 33401

Counsel for Appellee

##

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

individuals from ever making these statements without first consulting counsel. <u>Sapp</u>, 690 So. 2d at 586. This court reasoned that a rule allowing a person to invoke the right to counsel for custodial interrogation before it is even imminent (whether it be through a claim of rights form or by any other means) would provide little additional protection against involuntary confessions but would unnecessarily hinder lawful efforts by police to obtain voluntary confessions. <u>Id</u>. at 586. This court stated that it believes that requiring the invocation to occur either during custodial interrogation or when it is imminent strikes a healthier balance between the protection of the individual from police coercion on the one hand and the State's need to conduct criminal investigations on the other. Id.

Furthermore, in <u>State v. Guthrie</u>, 666 So. 2d 562 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), Guthrie was arrested for Grand Theft at 12:30 a.m., and at 8 a.m. that same day he signed an invocation of constitutional rights. Seven hours later on the same day, two detectives went to the jail to question Guthrie about an allegation of sexual child abuse. Guthrie waived his <u>Miranda</u> rights and confessed to the sexual abuse. The Second District Court of Appeal suppressed the confession. However, on appeal, this Court quashed the decision based upon <u>Sapp</u>, and remanded

the cause for further proceedings. <u>State v. Guthrie</u>, 692 So. 2d 888 (Fla. 1997).

The circumstances of the instant case are analogous to the circumstances in <u>Sapp</u> and <u>Guthrie</u>. Here, Appellant was arrested on November 5, 1996 on charges unrelated to the murders at issue. On November 6, Ault had his first appearance and signed a claim of rights form with respect to the unrelated sexual battery charge. Later that day, he met with Detective Rhodes and confessed to the murders. The trial court properly denied the motion to suppress as Ault may not anticipatorily invoke his right to counsel with respect to the murder charges. <u>Sapp</u>, 690 So. 2d at 586; <u>Guthrie</u>, 666 So. 2d at 888; <u>Hess</u>, 794 So. 2d at 1249. Hence, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Appellant's motion to suppress.

Moreover, any error in admitting Ault's confession was harmless. The focus of a harmless error analysis "is on the effect of the error on the trier-of fact." <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986). "The question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict." <u>Id</u>.

> The test must be conscientiously applied and the reasoning of the court set forth for the guidance of all concerned and for the benefit of further appellate review. The test is not sufficiency-of-the-evidence, a correct result, a not clearly wrong, a

substantial evidence, a more probable than not, a clear and convincing, or even an overwhelming evidence test. Harmless error is not a device for the appellate court to substitute itself for the trier-of-fact by simply weighing the evidence.

In this case, there is no reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict. The police would have found the bodies even if Ault had not confessed and shown them where the bodies were. The record reflects that Delois Skeete had seen Alicia and Deane ride in Ault's car a few days before they were murdered (T. Vol. 8 p. 1554). Deane and Alicia's mother, Donna Jones testified that she had befriended Ault and his wife. On the day her girls were missing, she went to Ault's home and he told her he had not seen them, but also told her not to call the police because he had problems with them (T. Vol. 8 p. 1580-81). Jones told the police what Ault had said because she felt like it was a threat.

Mildred Manning testified that she worked at a convenience store and on November 4th, the day the girls were reported missing, she saw them walking in front of the store between two and three-o-clock in the afternoon (T. Vol 8 p. 1516). James Marrazzo testified that on November 4th, at about 2:30 p.m. he saw Ault standing in front of the convenience store (T. Vol. 8 p. 1524). Larry Joe Jackson testified that on October 30, he saw the girls with Ault at the convenience store and Ault was

buying them soda and chips (T. Vol. 8 1529). Jackson testified that he wrote down the tag number and followed the car until Ault dropped the girls off at the park (T. Vol. 8 pp. 1529-1530). He was suspicious because Ault was white and the girls were black. Detective Rhodes testified that he went to question Ault at the county jail because Ault's story was inconsistent (T. Vol. 8 p. 1613).

At the first interview with Rhodes, Ault said he had only met the girls once and told Rhodes that they had never been in his truck, yet other witnesses saw Ault with the girls at the park, at the convenience store, and in his truck(T. Vol. 8 p. 1516, 1524, 1529-30, 1554, 1597). While Ault invited the police to look around his home on the day the girls were missing, that search was cursory because they had not gathered evidence showing a clear link between Ault and the girls' disappearance. It is apparent from the instant record that Ault's initial version of events was called into question before Rhodes spoke to him on November 6th at the county jail, thus, a more thorough search of his home would have been conducted even had Ault not confessed.

There is overwhelming evidence that suggests that Ault's home would have been searched thoroughly, including any areas such as the attic where bodies could have been hidden, and the

girls bodies inevitably would have been found without Ault's statements. <u>Maulden v. State</u>, 617 So. 2d 298, 301 (Fla. 1993) <u>citing Nix v. Williams</u>, 467 U.S. 431, 448 (1984)(finding that evidence obtained as a result of unconstitutional police procedure may still be admissible provided the evidence would inevitably have been discovered by legal means); <u>Thorp v. State</u>, 777 So. 2d 385, 396 (Fla. 2000); <u>Jeffries v. State</u>, 797 So. 2d 573, 578 (Fla. 2001).

Here, the police were able to determine that Ault lied about the girls never being in his truck, Ault was seen at the same location where the girls were last seen alive, at about the same time. Ault had threatened Donna Jones when she asked Ault if he had seen her children, and he had a prior criminal history of sexual assault on children. Without question, had Ault not confessed on November, 6, 1996, the record reflects that the police had probable cause to search his home and would have found Deane and Alicia in the attic. There is no reasonable probability that any error affected the verdict. The conviction and sentence must be affirmed.

#### POINT II

# THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED THE STATE'S CHALLENGE FOR CAUSE. (RESTATED).

Appellant claims that the trial court erroneously granted the State's cause challenge against prospective juror Reynolds

based on her views of the death penalty. In this case, the trial court properly granted the State's cause challenge, as prospective juror Reynolds stated that she was opposed to the death penalty and that her experiences with death in her own life would effect her decision with respect to guilt or innocence (T. Vol. II p, 573-574, Vol. V pp. 849-850). Moreover, it was never established that Reynolds could follow the law.

A trial court's decision on whether or not to strike a juror for cause is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Kearse v. State, 770 So. 2d 1119 (Fla. 2000) (noting that a trial court has great discretion when deciding whether to grant or deny a challenge for cause, recognizing that the trial court has a unique vantage point because the trial court is able to see the jurors' voir dire responses and make observations which simply cannot be discerned from an appellate record, and concluding that it is the trial court's duty to determine whether a challenge for cause is proper); Castro v. State, 644 So. 2d 987 (Fla. 1994) (excusing a juror for cause is subject to abuse of discretion review because the trial court has the opportunity to observe and evaluate the prospective juror's demeanor and credibility); United States v. Greer, 223 F.3d 41, 52 (2d Cir. 2000) (observing that a district court's determination regarding

whether actual bias exists to establish a challenge for cause is reviewed for abuse of discretion); <u>United States v. Taylor</u>, 207 F.3d 452, 454 (8th Cir. 2000) (noting that decisions denying challenges for cause are reviewed for abuse of discretion); <u>United States. v. Lowe</u>, 145 F.3d 45, 48 (1st Cir. 1998) (noting that a district court's ruling on for-cause challenges to prospective jurors is reviewed for clear abuse of discretion).

Under the abuse of discretion standard of review, the appellate court pays substantial deference to the trial court's ruling. A trial court's determination will be upheld by the appellate court "unless the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court." <u>Canakaris v. Canakaris</u>, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980). The abuse of discretion standard is one of the most difficult for an Appellant to satisfy. <u>Ford</u> <u>v. Ford</u>, 700 So. 2d 191, 195 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997).

The standard for exclusion of jurors was settled in <u>Wainwright v. Witt</u>, 469 U.S. 412 (1985), the question is whether the juror's views would prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions and oath. In <u>Hannon v. State</u>, 638 So. 2d 39 (Fla.

1994), this Court stated that "[t]he inability to be impartial about the death penalty is a valid reason to remove a prospective juror for cause". However, jurors who have expressed strong feelings about death penalty may serve if they indicate an ability to abide by the trial court's instructions. Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637 (Fla. 1995). If there is any reasonable doubt that a prospective juror cannot render a verdict based solely on the evidence submitted and the trial court's instruction of law, he should be excused. <u>King v.</u> <u>State</u>, 622 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993). The relevant inquiry is whether a juror can perform his or her duties in accordance with the court's instructions and the juror's oath. <u>Farina v.</u> <u>State</u>, 680 So. 2d 392, 396 (Fla. 1996)

In <u>Johnson</u>, this Court found that on the question of whether or not a juror who is opposed to the death penalty has been rehabilitated, the trial court is in the best position to observe the attitude and demeanor of the juror and gauge the quality of the juror's responses. <u>Johnson</u>, 660 So. 2d at 644. In that case, when asked if she could follow the law, the potential juror stated that she thought and hoped she would, and this court affirmed the trial court's decision to strike the juror for cause, finding that the trial court is in the best position to judge the juror's response and demeanor. <u>Id</u>.

In Fernandez v. State, 730 So. 2d 277 (Fla. 1999), Fernandez argued that the trial court erred in granting the State's challenges for cause against four prospective jurors who stated during voir dire that they were opposed to the death penalty. Fernandez alleged that the four venire persons should not have been excused because, upon examination by defense counsel, they stated that they could follow the law. This court reasoned that the standard for determining whether a prospective juror may be excused for cause because of his or her views of the death penalty is whether the prospective juror's views would prevent or substantially impair the performance of his or her duties as a juror in accordance with the jury's instructions or oath. Id. This Court found that the trial court properly granted the challenges for cause because the four venire persons gave equivocal answers as to whether they could follow the law and set aside their beliefs. See also Foster v. State, 679 So.2d 747 (Fla. 1996).

Recently, in <u>Morrison v. State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S253, S255(Fla. March 21, 2002), this Court found that a juror was properly removed for cause when he expressed uncertainty about imposing the death penalty. This Court held that a juror who says he is not sure he can impose the death penalty is enough equivocation to support a challenge for cause. <u>Id</u>.

In the instant case, the record reflects that during the State's voir dire, prospective juror Reynolds stated that she was opposed to the death penalty (T. Vol. 2 pp. 573-574). During defense counsel's voir dire questioning, while Ms. Reynolds stated that she could be fair and impartial, she also said she was unsure of how personal experiences with death might effect her in trying to be fair and impartial regarding a finding of guilt, innocence, or the proper penalty. (T. Vol. 5 pp. 849-850, 866, 895). Defense counsel never rehabilitated Reynolds as it was never established that she could follow the law and the judges instructions.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it sustained the State's challenge for cause, as Reynolds gave equivocal responses regarding her ability to impose the death penalty. Moreover, defense counsel never established that Reynolds could follow the law. <u>Johnson</u>, 660 So. 2d at 637. Therefore, there has been no determination that Reynolds could perform her duties as a juror.

However, should this court find that the trial court erred in granting the state's challenge for cause, any error was harmless. The focus of a harmless error analysis "is on the effect of the error on the trier-of fact." <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986). "The question is whether

there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict." Id.

The test must be conscientiously applied and the reasoning of the court set forth for the guidance of all concerned and for the benefit of further appellate review. The test is not sufficiency-of-the-evidence, a correct result, a not clearly wrong, a substantial evidence, a more probable than not, a clear and convincing, or even an overwhelming evidence test. Harmless error is not a device for the appellate court to substitute itself for the trier-of-fact by simply weighing the evidence.

### <u>Id</u>.

In this case, Appellant has made no showing that the jury was impartial, nor has he established that the State's reason for the strike was improper. The State did not use all 12 peremptory challenges, rather the State had two peremptory challenges left at the end of voir dire. (T. Vol. V p. 992). Had the trial court denied the challenge for cause, the State would have struck Reynolds with a peremptory. <u>See Morrison v.</u> <u>State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S253, s255 (March 21, 2001)(finding that the State may properly exercise a peremptory challenge to strike prospective jurors who are opposed to the death penalty but not subject to a challenge for cause). In <u>Morrison</u>, this court found that both parties have the right to peremptorily challenge persons who are inclined against their interests. <u>Morrison</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly at s255; <u>See also Walls v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 381, 386 (Fla. 1993)(holding that trial court did not err in sustaining peremptory strike of venire person who expressed discomfort with the death penalty).

The State recognizes this Court's decisions in <u>Chandler v.</u> <u>State</u>, 442 So. 2d 171, 173-175 (Fla. 1983) and <u>Farina v. State</u>, 680 So. 2d 392 (Fla. 1996), where this court has refused to apply a harmless error analysis to the circumstance where the trial court erroneously granted a challenge for cause, yet this court affirmed the conviction and remanded for a new penalty phase. However, in light of this court's recent decision in <u>Morrison</u>, the State asks this court to revisit the issue.

In this case, there is no allegation that the State was seeking to remove Reynolds because of her race, rather the State's challenge was based on a proper reason, namely that she could not follow that law. However, should this court find that the record does not support the State's challenge, then under <u>Morrison</u>, the State could have struck Reynolds with a peremptory challenge simply because she was opposed to the imposition of the death penalty. Hence, any error was harmless. The conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

#### POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR PENALTY PHASE MISTRIAL. (RESTATED)

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